ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

MAR 24 2014

SC Court of Appeals

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Horry County

Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

UBALDO GARCIA,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-209447  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

WANDA H. CARTER  
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial judge erred in denying appellant's request for time served credit after having submitted to house arrest **and** GPS electronic monitoring because S.C. Code Ann §24-13-40 **as amended** allows such credit for "any time spent under monitored house arrest," and because the GPS liberty restrictions placed upon appellant during home detention elevated his status to that of a prisoner confined in a penal facility who was eligible for time served credit under Higgins<sup>1</sup> and a GPS due process hearing.

---

<sup>1</sup> State v. Higgins, 357 S.C. 382, 593 S.E.2d 180 (S.C. Ct. App. 2004)

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Ubaldo Garcia pled guilty to trafficking in cocaine (28 to 100 grams), first offense, during the February 2012 term of the Horry County General Sessions Court before Judge Steven H. John. Appellant was represented by William I. Diggs at the plea proceeding. Judge John sentenced appellant to imprisonment for a period of ten years.

On February 9, 2012, a sentencing reconsideration hearing was convened at the Horry County General Sessions Court before Judge John. Appellant was present at the hearing and represented by William I. Diggs. At the hearing, a motion for time served credit was entered based on appellant's time spent on house arrest and GPS monitoring simultaneously as conditions of bail prior to the plea proceeding. Judge John denied appellant's request for time served credit.

The notice of appeal and letter containing the time served credit issue as the ground for appeal per Rule 203(d)(1)(B)(iv), SCACR, were both timely filed. This brief follows.

## ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in denying appellant's request for time served credit after having submitted to house arrest and GPS electronic monitoring because S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 as amended allows such credit for "any time spent under monitored house arrest," and because the GPS liberty restrictions placed upon appellant during home detention elevated his status to that of a prisoner confined in a penal facility who was eligible for time served credit under *Higgins*<sup>2</sup> and a GPS due process hearing.

On September 30, 2009, appellant was stopped by police for driving sixty-five-miles per hour in a fifty-five-mile per hour zone on Highway 378 in Horry County, South Carolina. Upon smelling an odor of marijuana coming from the vehicle per the stop, a police search of appellant's vehicle resulted in a finding of three-quarters of a kilo of cocaine. Appellant was arrested at the scene and later charged with trafficking in cocaine. R. 8, l. 14 – R. 9, l. 8.

Subsequently, appellant pled guilty to trafficking in cocaine and was sentenced to ten years imprisonment. R. 4, l.1-R. 11, l. 9. Thereafter, appellant appeared before the plea judge requesting credit for time served<sup>3</sup> while on home detention and GPS monitoring as bail conditions pending adjudication on his trafficking charge. Counsel's argument regarding the time served credit matter follows:

Your Honor, we looked at a lot of the case law on this issue about home detention and the GPS. [T]he GPS and the house detention issue is slightly separate issues, but both applicable in this case. Mr. Garcia was on house arrest and he was on GPS monitoring, and that's a little bit different from any of the factual scenarios that we find in the case law out of the State of South Carolina regarding credit, or the issue of being given credit for

---

<sup>2</sup> State v. Higgins, 357 S.C. 382, 593 S.E.2d 180 (S.C. Ct. App. 2004)

<sup>3</sup> Appellant was on house arrest and GPS monitoring from September 28, 2009 to December 11, 2011 as a condition of being released after being granted bail.

those situations. Admittedly house arrest hasn't warranted credit for – you know, as a time-served circumstance in our State, but I would submit that house arrest with the GPS monitoring, the limitations on his traveling, that imposed in this case, the typical ones of not being able to travel, other than to go to church and/or to meet with his attorney sufficiently restrictive, sufficiently severe, that it warrants the definition of confinement, and we would ask the Court to, under the circumstances of this case, find that Mr. Garcia was a defendant who was detained, under the circumstances of this case, restriction on his movement sufficient to allow him credit for time served under those circumstances.... house arrest and the GPS monitoring warrant finding that he would be entitled to be given credit for the time that he served under those conditions. R. 26, l. 11- R. 27, l. 11.

The plea judge denied appellant's request for time served credits while on house arrest and GPS monitoring via the prohibition announced in Higgins. R. 30, l. 12-R. 31, l. 24.

In Higgins, the Court held that time served credit could only be awarded to a "prisoner" who is "serving time in prison," and that "prisoners" are those who are actually confined to a penal institution; and that as a result, pre-trial house confinement status could not be deemed the equivalent of a prisoner confined in prison. Thus, one under house arrest would not qualify as one confined in a penal facility within the meaning of Higgins; and therefore, under the Higgins rationale, a pre-trial house detainee would not receive the benefit of time served credit for time spent on home detention prior to trial. Also, S.C. Code Ann. §24-13-40 mandates that prisoners receive "full credit against the sentence must be given for time served prior to trial and sentencing."

However, in May 8, 2013, S.C. Code Ann. §24-13-40, was amended to read as follows:

The computation of the time served...must be calculated from the date of the imposition of the sentence.....[and] full credit against the sentence must be given for time served prior to trial and sentencing and may be given for any time spent under monitored house arrest.

Undoubtedly, this amended statute meant that Higgins could no longer be controlling on the issue of whether to bestow time served credit on home detention pretrial detainees. In other words,

our legislature recognized that there are obviously situations where individuals on monitored home detention would qualify similarly as “prisoners” deserving credit for time served during that home detention period. In the case at bar, the additional condition of GPS surveillance attached to house arrest for appellant meant that he was eligible for time served credit under the newly amended statute.

However, notwithstanding the recently amended time served credit statute, appellant nonetheless qualified for time served credit due to the added GPS condition of bail placed upon him while under house arrest because this curtailed his liberty rights, which in turn meant that his home detention coupled with GPS monitoring as condition of bail resulted in a status equivalent to that of a prisoner confined to a penal facility and fit well within the prerequisites to receive time served credit under Higgins. Many courts have addressed the liberty restraints connected to GPS electronic monitoring and the continual surveillance that GPS monitoring brings as infringements on one’s right to be free from government interference and move about freely at will and without restrictions. See State v. Dykes, 403 S.C. 499, 744 S.E.2d 505 (2013), citing to United States v. Merritt, 612 F. Supp. 2d 1074 (2009); State v. Stines, 200 N.C. App. 193, 683 S.E.2d 411 (2009); United States v. Smedley, 611 F. Supp. 2d 971 (2009). See also United States v. Arzberger, 592 F. Supp. 2d 590 (2008). Commonwealth v. Carry, 454 Mass. 559, 911 N.E.2d 187 (2009). Therefore, any home detention coupled with GPS monitoring and its liberty restrictions would elevate such a house arrest to a level similar to the restrictions placed upon prisoners in penal institutions, and would thus warrant time served credit.

Also, since GPS monitoring works to deprive a person of their liberty, courts must assure that such monitoring does not violate due process, which is established by way of a hearing. State v. Stines, 200 N.C. App. 193, 683 S.E.2d 411 (2009). For example, in Dykes, the Court rejected as

unconstitutional an automatic non-reviewable placement of GPS monitoring for those convicted of first degree criminal sexual conduct or lewd act if they violated probation. In Smedley, the Court ruled that imposing home detention with electronic monitoring as a condition of release violated due process as the deprivation of the defendant's liberty interest was at stake and there was no mechanism to challenge the GPS monitoring as a condition for the purpose of bail. Compare similar holdings in United States v. Merritt, 612 F. Supp. 2<sup>nd</sup> 1074 (2009); United States v. Arzberger, 592 F. Supp. 2<sup>nd</sup> 590 (2008), where the courts denied attempts by the government to impose GPS electronic monitoring as an added factor to curfews as a condition of bail without due process hearings for the defendants to contest connecting GPS monitoring to their curfews, where the very nature of such monitoring meant that the same would restrict their ability to move about at will and deny them guaranteed constitutional liberty interests. Both Merritt and Arzberger involved Adams Walsh Amendments which were similar to S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-540(H) which allowed automatic GPS monitoring placements sans any opportunity for review. Hence, the placement of GPS monitoring on appellant sans a hearing violated due process.

Here, the added factor of GPS electronic monitoring that was placed upon appellant as a condition of bail combined with his service time on house arrest prior to his adjudication on the charge against him placed liberty restraints on him that raised him to a sphere beyond house arrest. The restrictions on appellant's movements and constant monitoring of his movements during home detention catapulted him to the level of a prisoner confined in a penal facility who was deserving of time served credit in the case.

Therefore, not only does the new statutory mandate allow for time served credit to be given in monitored home detention cases; but notwithstanding the new statutory mandate, any GPS monitoring of a house arrest pre-trial detainee as a condition of bail should result in the grant of

credit for time served due to the liberty restrictions of GPS monitoring and a GPS due process hearing as well. In the case at bar, appellant was qualified to receive time served credit while under house arrest and GPS monitoring under the amended statute referred to above; but more importantly, appellant was also qualified to receive time served credit as the GPS factor added to his house arrest curtailed his liberty and in the end established him as one on par with a prisoner in penal confinement who would qualify for time served credit.

Thus the trial judge erred in denying appellant's motion for time served credit during his term on home detention and simultaneous GPS monitoring while out on bail.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument, appellant requests that this Court reverse the trial judge's denial of his motion for time served credit and remand for a new sentencing proceeding in the case.