ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-209447

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

UBALDO GARCIA, JR.,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1276
Conway, SC 29528
(843) 915-8610

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

MAR 11 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted at the April, 2010 term of the grand jury for Horry County for trafficking in cocaine – more than 400 grams. (Indictment number 2010-GS-26-1601). He was represented by William I. Diggs, Esquire. The State was represented by Bradley Coy Richardson of the Fifteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office. On December 14, 2011, Appellant pled guilty to the lesser included offense of trafficking in cocaine – 28 to 100 grams. He was sentenced by the Honorable Steven H. John to ten years' imprisonment. (R.p.3; p.16, lines 1-25; pp. 38-40). Defendant subsequently filed a motion to reconsider his sentence. (R.p.19). On February 29, 2012, Judge John convened a hearing on Appellant's motion. Appellant was again represented by Mr. Diggs, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Nancy Cote. After hearing arguments, Judge John issued an order denying Appellant's motion. (R.p.34). Appellant timely filed a notice of intent to appeal his conviction and sentence and subsequently submitted a Brief in support of his appeal. This Brief of Respondent follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

After Appellant was arrested for trafficking in cocaine, he had a surety bond set at \$150,000. His attorney, Mr. Diggs, subsequently moved for a bond reduction, and on October 16, 2009, the Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr., issued a consent order reducing bond to: “a \$45,000 surety bond with the condition that the defendant be placed on home detention w/ GPS monitoring except for purposes of going to and from work and/or school, for medical treatment, and to attend church services.” Mr. Diggs and an assistant solicitor indicated their agreement to the terms and conditions of the bond by signing the consent order. (R.p.1).

At the guilty plea proceeding, the solicitor recited the facts of the case and Appellant said those facts were true and correct. (R.p.8, line 12-p.10, line 23). After asking Appellant a series of questions, the court found there had been a substantial factual basis for the plea and found that Appellant’s decision to plead guilty was made freely, voluntarily, knowingly and intelligently with the advice of competent counsel. The court accepted the plea and asked to hear from Appellant’s counsel. (R.p.11, lines 2-9). Mr. Diggs stated: “The incident occurred over two years ago. He has been on monitor and house detention since that time, and eventually, when the Court imposes a sentence, we are going to ask the Court to consider giving him credit for that, a period of time he has been on the monitor.” (R.p.11, lines 10-17). After imposing a ten year sentence, the court ordered: “Defendant is given credit for any jail time that he has actually served. I do not believe it is proper to extend credit for time spent on GPS monitoring.” (R.p.16, lines 16-18).

In his motion to reconsider, Appellant argued that he: “should be given credit for the time served under house arrest and electronic monitoring, to wit: from the time of

arrest on September 28, 2009 until the date of his sentencing, December 14, 2011.”

(R.p.19). At the February 29, 2012, motion hearing, Appellant advised the court that although he had done some research, he was unable to discover any cases to specifically support his request for credit. He argued, however, that having GPS monitoring in addition to house arrest created a slightly different circumstance than was addressed in the case law. Appellant argued that the limits on his travel associated with house arrest along with the GPS monitoring were sufficiently severe and restrictive to meet the definition of “confinement” for purposes of awarding credit under the relevant statutes. (R.p.26 line 11-p.27, line 11). The solicitor noted that Appellant had not actually maintained compliance with all the conditions of home detention and had even had a revocation at some point. She also argued that regardless of compliance, Appellant was not entitled to credit for time served on home detention under the existing case law of this state. (R.p.28, line 18-p.29, line 2).

At the conclusion of the hearing, the court referenced an opinion from this Court, State v. Higgins, 357 S.C. 382, 593 S.E.2d 180 (Ct. App. 2004), for the proposition that a person is only entitled to credit for time served in a penal institution, and not for house arrest. The court found the GPS monitoring which was attached to the house arrest did not create any exception to this rule, and again declined Appellant’s request for credit for time served on house arrest and GPS monitoring. (R.p.31, lines 3-24). After hearing arguments, the court issued an order formally denying Appellant’s motion to reconsider. The court: “denied the request for credit for time served while [Appellant] was on home detention. *State v. Higgins*, 357 S.C. 382, 593 S.E.2d 180 (Ct. App. 2004).” (R.p.34).

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court properly denied Appellant's request for credit against his sentence for the time he served under house arrest and GPS monitoring where: (1) an amendment to the South Carolina Code which allows credit for "any time spent under monitored house arrest" occurred after Appellant was sentenced; (2) Appellant was not entitled to such credit under the pre-amendment version of the Code; and (3) Appellant's right to due process was not violated by the imposition of GPS monitoring.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in denying his request for credit against his sentence for the time he served under house arrest and GPS electronic monitoring prior to his guilty plea. First, Appellant contends he should have been given credit pursuant to a 2013 amendment to Section 24-13-40 of the South Carolina Code that allows credit for "any time spent under monitored house arrest." Second, Appellant contends he should have been given credit pursuant to the pre-amendment version of § 24-13-40 because the GPS liberty restriction placed upon him during the home detention "elevated his status to that of a prisoner confined in a penal facility." Finally, in an argument seemingly unrelated to his request for credit for time served, Appellant contends the pre-trial imposition of GPS monitoring as a condition of bail, without a hearing, violated his right to due process. The State submits each of Appellant's contentions is without merit.

S.C. Code § 24-13-40: Post-2013 Amendment

On the date of the offense (September 30, 2009), the date of Appellant's guilty plea (December 14, 2011), and the date the trial judge heard arguments on Appellant's motion to reconsider (February 29, 2012), the South Carolina Code provided:

The computation of the time served by prisoners under sentences imposed by the courts of this State must be calculated from the date of the imposition of the sentence. However, when (a) a prisoner shall have given notice of

intention to appeal, (b) the commencement of the service of the sentence follows the revocation of probation, or (c) the court shall have designated a specific time for the commencement of the service of the sentence, the computation of the time served must be calculated from the date of the commencement of the service of the sentence. In every case in computing the time served by a prisoner, full credit against the sentence must be given for time served prior to trial and sentencing. Provided, however, that credit for time served prior to trial and sentencing shall not be given: (1) when the prisoner at the time he was imprisoned prior to trial was an escapee from another penal institution; or (2) when the prisoner is serving a sentence for one offense and is awaiting trial and sentence for a second offense in which case he shall not receive credit for time served prior to trial in a reduction of his sentence for the second offense.

S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (2007 & Supp. 2011) (emphasis added). In State v. Higgins, this court found the legislature only intended to allow credit for time served in a penal institution, and therefore found no error in the trial court's refusal to afford credit to Higgins for the time he served on house arrest while he was released on bond. 357 S.C. 382, 386, 593 S.E.2d 180, 182 (Ct. App. 2004). On June 7, 2013, the legislature amended Section 24-13-40 by adding language to the relevant sentence as follows: "In every case in computing the time served by a prisoner, full credit against the sentence must be given for time served prior to trial and sentencing, and may be given for any time spent under monitored house arrest." S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (Supp. 2013) (amended by Act No. 34, eff. June 7, 2013).

Appellant argues that this amendment to § 24-13-40 means Higgins can no longer be controlling on the issue of whether to bestow time served credit on home detention pretrial detainees. Indeed, he claims allowing credit for time served on home detention is a "new statutory mandate." (Brief of Appellant, p.9). The State disagrees, at least insofar

as the application of Higgins to this appeal, and submits Appellant's argument should be denied and dismissed on several grounds. First, this argument is not preserved for appellate review because it was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005); State v. Fleming, 254 S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970). Indeed, it could not have been raised to the trial court because the amendment occurred after appellant was convicted and sentenced. At the time of Appellant's plea and sentence, Higgins controlled the trial court's decision to deny credit for time served on house arrest, and that decision should be affirmed.

Second, although not raised in his brief and therefore not before the Court, to the extent this Court construes Appellant's argument to be a claim that the amendment to Section 24-13-40 should be retroactive, the State disagrees. South Carolina case law makes it clear that amendments to statutes are not retroactive unless the Legislature says they are. "Generally, 'statutory enactments are to be considered prospective rather than retroactive in their operation unless there is a specific provision in the enactment or clear legislative intent to the contrary.'" Wiesart v. Stewart, 379 S.C. 300, 303, 665 S.E.2d 187, 188 (Ct. App. 2008). "Statutes that are remedial or procedural in nature, however, operate retroactively. A statute is remedial and applies retroactively when it creates new remedies for existing rights or enlarges rights of persons under disability." Id. In Wiesart, this Court found the 1996 amendment to § 23-3-430 was procedural in nature because it created a requirement that the trial court make a specific finding on the record regarding whether a person convicted of indecent exposure should register as a sex offender, rather than creating a new right. Id.

In Edwards v. State Law Enforcement Div., 395 S.C. 571, 720 S.E.2d 462 (2011), the Supreme Court examined how to determine whether a statutory amendment is to be applied retroactively. “It is a well-settled rule of statutory construction that absent a specific provision or clear legislative intent to the contrary, statutes are to be construed prospectively rather than retroactively, unless the statute is remedial or procedural in nature.” Id. at 579, 720 S.E.2d at 466. After finding no explicit provision by the General Assembly that the amendment in question was to apply retroactively, the Court turned its focus to whether it was remedial or procedural. Following the Court’s logic in Edwards, finding no explicit provision that the amendment is to apply retroactively, this Court must determine whether it is remedial or procedural. A statute is remedial when it creates new remedies for existing rights or enlarges rights of persons under disability, and is procedural if it sets out a mode of procedure for a court to follow, or ‘prescribes a method of enforcing rights.’ Wiesart, 379 S.C. at 303, 665 S.E.2d at 188; Edwards, 395 S.C. at 580, 720 S.E.2d at 466. Here, the amendment does not create a new remedy for an existing right, nor does it set out a mode of procedure for courts to follow. Rather, by providing that house arrest time may be used to calculate time served, the amendment creates a new obligation or imposes a new duty. Id. In Edwards, the Court found the amendments to the sex offender registry statute to provide that if a sex offender received a pardon for which he was required to register, he must reregister and may not be removed from the registry except in certain enumerated circumstances did “not create a new right, but instead impose[d] an obligation which did not exist prior to the amendments.” Edwards, 395 S.C. at 579, 720 S.E.2d at 466. Similarly, the amendment in this case imposed an obligation by making house arrest part of time-served calculation.

Therefore, it should be construed prospectively, not retroactively. Accordingly, the amendment does not apply to Appellant.

Finally, even under the terms of the amended statute, the award of credit for time spent on monitored house arrest is discretionary rather than mandatory. Unlike credit for time served prior to trial and sentencing in a penal institution, which “must be given,” credit for time spent on monitored house arrest “may be given.” S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (Supp. 2013). Because the award of the credit sought by Appellant was entirely in the discretion of the trial court, the decision to deny such credit must be affirmed. This is particularly true where the trial judge was given uncontested information that Appellant had violated the conditions of his house arrest. Compare Higgins, 357 S.C. at 383, 593 S.E.2d at 181 (noting there was no evidence Higgins violated the conditions imposed in his release order). For all of the foregoing reasons, the State submits Appellant’s first contention is without merit and should be dismissed.

S.C. Code § 24-13-40: Pre-2013 Amendment

Appellant argues he “qualified for time served credit due to the added GPS condition of bail placed upon him while under house arrest because this curtailed his liberty rights, which in turn meant that his home detention coupled with GPS monitoring as condition of bail resulted in a status equivalent to that of a prisoner confined to a penal facility and fit well within the prerequisites to receive time served credit under Higgins.” He claims the GPS monitoring “elevated him,” “raised him to a sphere beyond,” or “catapulted him” beyond house arrest to the level of a prisoner. (Brief of Appellant, p.7-p.8). The State disagrees.

Higgins clearly held that: (1) the statutory term: “time served” as employed in the statute governing computation of credits against a sentence did not include time spent under house arrest; and (2) Higgins was not entitled to credit against his sentence for time spent under house arrest while released on bond. Higgins, 357 S.C. at 382, 593 S.E.2d at 180. Like Higgins, Appellant spent time under house arrest/home detention while released on bond. Thus, pursuant to Higgins, Appellant was not entitled to “time served” credit against his sentence for this time. The imposition of GPS monitoring did absolutely nothing to “elevate” or further intensify the liberty restrictions already imposed by the home detention itself, which prohibited Appellant from leaving his home “except for purposes of going to and from work and/or school, for medical treatment, and to attend church services.” Instead, GPS monitoring merely provided a means to monitor and enforce those restrictions. Appellant relies in part on State v. Dykes, 403 S.C. 499, 744 S.E.2d 505 (2013) and several cases cited therein in support of his argument, however Dykes addressed imposition of GPS monitoring independent of home detention or house arrest, and therefore is inapplicable to the circumstances of Appellant’s case. For these reasons, the State submits Appellant’s second contention is without merit and should be dismissed.

Due Process

Appellant argues that “GPS monitoring works to deprive a person of his or her liberty” and therefore, due process demands a hearing before GPS may be imposed as a condition of bail. He contends his placement on GPS monitoring without a hearing violated his right to due process. The State submits this argument is not preserved for appellate review and is wholly without merit.

Appellant did not raise this “due process” argument during the guilty plea proceeding and the trial court certainly did not rule on any due process claim; therefore, it is not preserved for appellate review. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005); State v. Fleming, 254 S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970). In any event, Appellant consented to the conditions of home detention and GPS monitoring in conjunction with a reduction in the amount of his bond. Had he not consented to the GPS monitoring, he would have been given a hearing on his motion to reconsider bond and any modified or newly imposed conditions. Therefore, the State submits Appellant’s due process argument is without merit and should be dismissed.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the lower court be affirmed.